IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JUDICIAL WATCH, INC.
501 School Street, SW, Suite 500
Washington, D.C. 20024,

Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE,
14th Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20230,

and

CARLOS GUTIERREZ, in his official capacity as
Secretary of the U.S. Department of Commerce,
14th Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20230,

Defendants.
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
AND PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS

Plaintiff hereby sues Defendants U.S. Department of Commerce and Carlos Gutierrez, in
his official capacity as Secretary of the U.S. Department of Commerce, to compel compliance
with the Federal Advisory Committee Act, 5 U.S.C. App. 2 (“FACA”). Plaintiff seeks a
judgment declaring that the North American Competitiveness Council (“NACC”) and its U.S.
component subcommittees are advisory committees subject to FACA. Plaintiff also seeks to
enjoin Defendants from continuing to fail to comply with the requirements of FACA, including
but not limited to FACA’s requirements that (i) all meetings of the NACC and its U.S.

component subcommittees be open to the public; (i1) notice of each meeting be published in the



Federal Register; (iii) interested persons be allowed to attend, appear before, or file statements
with the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees; and (iv) records, reports, transcripts,
minutes, appendices, working papers, drafts, studies, agendas, and other documents made
available to or prepared for or by the NACC or its U.S. component subcommittees be made
available thro}ugh the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552 (“FOIA”™).
Plaintiff also seeks a writ of mandamus compelling Defendant Gutierrez to comply with the
requirements of FACA. As grounds therefor, Plaintiff alleges as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and
1361.

2. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (e).

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff is a not-for-profit, tax exempt, educational organization incorporated
under the laws of the District of Columbia. Plaintiff has its principal place of business at 501
School Street, S.W., Suite 500, Washington, D.C. 20024. Plaintiff seeks to promote integrity,
transparency, and accountability in government and fidelity to the rule of law. In furtherance of
its public interest mission, Plaintiff regularly utilizes open records and open meetings statutes,
including FOIA and FACA, to monitor the actions of federal, state, and local government
agencies, entities, and offices. Plaintiff disseminates its findings to the public through various

educational and outreach programs, including the organization’s website and monthly newsletter.



4. Defendant U.S. Department of Commerce is an agency of the United States
Government. Defendant has its principal place of business at 14th Street, N.W. and Constitution
Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20230.

5. Defendant Carlos Gutierrez is the Secretary of Defendant U.S. Department of
Commerce. Defendant Gutierrez has his principal place of business at 14th Street, N.-W. and
Constitution Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20230. He is being sued in his official capacity
only.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND LAW

A. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

6. FACA imposes a number of requirements on committees established or utilized
by the President or federal agencies to obtain advice or recommendations (“advisory
committees”). 5 U.S.C. App. 2 § 2 et seq. FACA defines “advisory committee,” in relevant part,
to include any “committee, board, commission, council, conference, panel, task force, or other
similar group, or any subcommittee or other subgroup thereof . . . established or utilized by one
or more agencies, in the interest of obtaining advice or recommendations for the President or one
or more agencies or officers of the Federal Government.” 5 U.S.C. App. 2 § 3(2).

7. Advisory committees that meet this definition are subject to FACA’s requirements
unless specifically exempted by statute. Id. at § 4.

8. These requirements include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) that all
meetings be open to the public; (ii) that notice of each meeting be published in the Federal
Register; (iii) that interested persons be allowed to attend, appear before, or file statements with

the advisory committee; and (iv) that records, reports, transcripts, minutes, appendices, working
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papers, drafts, studies, agendas, and other documents made available to or prepared for or by the
advisory committees be made available through the provisions of FOIA. See, e.g., 5 U.S.C. App.
2 §§ 10(a)(1-3) and (b).

B. ESTABLISHMENT AND MEMBERSHIP OF THE NACC

9. On March 23, 2005, U.S. President George W. Bush, Mexican President Vincente
Fox, and Canadian Prime Minister Paul Martin met in Waco, Texas for a summit of North
American leaders. The principal outcome of this meeting was the creation of the Security and
Prosperity Partnership of North America (“SPP”), which has been described as a cooperative
effort by the governments of the United States, Mexico, and Canada to address numerous areas
of mutual concern, including the movement of goods, traveler security, energy, environment, and
health.

10. On March 15, 2006, Defendant Gutierrez, Canadian Deputy Minister of Industry
Suzanne Hurtubise, and Dr. Alberto Ortega, a representative of Mexican President Vicente Fox,
met with senior business leaders in Washington, D.C. to solicit the views of the North American
business community on priorities for the SPP, as well as recommendations from business leaders
on how the SPP could help their companies become more competitive, reduce the cost of doing
business, cut red tape, and eliminate unnecessary barriers to trade in North America. Also
discussed was the possible creation and institutionalization of a “North American
Competitiveness Council.”

11. Subsequent to the March 15, 2006 meeting, a framework for the NACC was
reached trilaterally between Defendant Gutierrez and his Mexican and Canadian counterparts,

and it was agreed that the NACC would provide recommendations on issues concerning North



American competitiveness that could be addressed through the SPP. The NACC is the
“prosperity” component of the SPP and functions as a conduit between the Defendants and the
business community.

12. On March 30-31, 2006, President Bush, P'resident Fox, and Prime Minister Harper
held a series of meetings in Cancun, Mexico to discuss various North American priorities,
including the SPP and “North American Competitiveness.” One meeting between President
Bush, President Fox, Prime Minister Harper, and private sector representatives from each country
addressed the proposed structure of the NACC.

13.  After the March 2006 meeting in Cancun, Defendant U.S. Department of
Commerce reportedly worked with the Council of the Americas, the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce, and other interested parties to formalize the NACC by facilitating interaction
between representatives from the three governments and the private sector.

14. On June 15, 2006, Defendant Gutierrez, Mexican Economy Minister Sergio
Garciade Alba, Canadian Minister of Interior Maxime Bernier, and North American business
leaders met in Washington, D.C. to officially launch the NACC. According to a press release
issued by Defendant U.S. Department of Commerce, on that same date, the NACC “is made up
of high level business leaders from each country” who will meet annually with representatives of
the United States, Mexican, and Canadian governments “to provide recommendations and
priorities on promoting North American competitiveness globally.” According to the U.S.
Chamber of Commerce, Secretary Gutierrez expressed a desire to “institutionalize” the SPP and

the NACC, so that work will continue through changes in administrations.



15.  As officially launched by Defendant Gutierrez and his counterparts in Mexico and
Canada on June 15, 2006, the NACC is comprised of thirty (35) members of the business
community. Each country determines its own members and the membership selection process.

16.  The initial meeting to launch only the U.S. section of the NACC had been held
previously on May 26, 2006, attended by Defendant Gutierrez and more than one hundred
business leaders and government officials and employees.

17. The U.S. component of the NACC is comprised of fifteen (15) members, all of
which are large, for-profit corporations.

18. The Mexican and Canadian components of the NACC are comprised of ten (10)
members each, all of whom appear to be heads of major Mexican and Canadian business
interests.

19.  None of the NACC’s members are full-time officers or employees of the U.S.
government. A complete list of members of the NACC is attached hereto as Exhibit A is
incorporated herein by reference.

20. Defendants, as well as the governments of Mexico and Canada, each designated
organizations in their respective countries to serve as “Secretariats” and to help collect input
from the business community. Defendants selected two business groups, the Council of the
Americas and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, to serve jointly as the “Secretariat” for the United
States.

21. According to the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Defendants, as well as the

governments of Mexico and Canada, have committed to participate in “ministerial-level”



meetings with the NACC annually. The NACC also meets with “senior government officials”
“two to three times per year” to “engage on an on-going basis to deliver concrete results.”

22.  Also according to the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, the U.S. component of the
NACC is composed of an Executive Committee and an Advisory Committee. On information
and belief, the Executive Committee is comprised of the fifteen (15) members, all of which are
large corporations. Each member is charged with representing the sector in which its business
operates.

23.  Also according to the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, the Advisory Committee is
comprised of more than 200 U.S. corporations, business associations, and local chambers of
commerce. The Advisory Committee provides advice and recommendations to the Executive
Committee.

24.  Also according to the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, the U.S. component of the
NACC, which, on information and belief, refers to the Executive Committee, meets twice a year
with the Secretary of Commerce and “additional meetings at the working group level” are
scheduled “as needed.”

25. The NACC met on August 15, 2006 in Washington, D.C. On information and
belief, this was the first formal meeting of the NACC.

26.  Defendant Gutierrez and his counterparts in Mexico and Canada met with the
NACC on February 23, 2007 in Ottawa, Canada. At the February 23, 2007 meeting, the NACC
issued a report containing over fifty (50) recommendations regarding border-crossing facilitation,
standards and regulatory cooperation, and energy integration. That same day, February 23, 2007,

Defendant Gutierrez and his counterparts in Mexico and Canada issued a press release



acknowledging their receipt of the NACC’s report and recommendations. The press release
stated that “[o]ur respective governments will review the report and consider carefully its
recommendations in preparation for the next leaders’ meeting.” The press release further stated
that “[w]e will continue to work with the NACC and other stakeholders as we strive to make
North America the safest and best place to live, invest and prosper.”

27. The next “leaders” meeting will take place on August 20-21, 2007 in Montebello,
Canada. On information and belief, the NACC also will be meeting on or about these same dates
in Montebello, Canada, in conjunction with the “leaders” meeting.

C. PLAINTIFF’S INVESTIGATION OF THE NACC

28. In furtherance of its public interest mission, Plaintiff began investigating the
activities of the SPP and the NACC in approximately July 2006. In August 2006, Plaintiff sent
FOIA requests to various federal agencies, including Defendant U.S. Department of Commerce,
seeking access to records regarding the creation, membership, operating guidelines, and meetings
of the NACC, among other topics. Plaintiff subsequently made other FOIA requests to various
federal agencies, including Defendant U.S. Department of Commerce, seeking access to
additional records regarding the NACC.

29. On March 23, 2007, Plaintiff submitted a request to the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce, one of the organizations designated by Defendants to serve as Secretariat for the U.S.
component of the NACC, asking that it be allowed to “participate in all future meetings of the
NACC, to include Ministerial, Executive Committee and Advisory Committee meetings.”

30. By letter dated April 19, 2007, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce informed Plaintiff

that only invited officials and members of the Executive Committee of the NACC could



participate in “Ministerial” meetings. The U.S. Chamber of Commerce also informed Plaintiff
that membership in the Executive Committee was “by definition only open to companies” and
that the Advisory Committee is “only open to companies, sectoral associations, and local
chambers of commerce.”

31.  OnJuly 26, 2007, Plaintiff submitted a request to Defendants asking that they
acknowledge that the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees are advisory committees
under FACA. Plaintiff’s letter also requested Defendants bring the NACC and its U.S.
component subcommittees into compliance with all appropriate laws and regulations, including
FACA’s requirements that meetings be open to Plaintiff and members of the public and that all
records, reports, transcripts, minutes, appendixes, working papers, drafts, studies, agendas, or
other documents made available to or prepared by the NACC and its U.S. component
subcommittees be made available to Plaintiff pursuant to the provisions of FOIA.

32. As of August 10, 2007, Defendants had failed to respond to Plaintiff’s request.

33.  As anot-for-profit, tax exempt, educational organization that seeks to promote
integrity, transparency, and accountability in government, Plaintiff has been and continues to be
damaged by Defendants’ refusal to allow it access to the meetings and records of the NACC and
its U.S. component subcommittees. Not only has Defendants’ refusal thus denied Plaintiff the
ability to obtain information and records about the SPP and the NACC, but it also is restricting
Plaintiff’s ability to disseminate such information and records to the public and is limiting
Plaintiff’s ability to carry out its public interest mission in general.

34.  Moreover, public confidence in the integrity of the U.S. government as a whole

has been and will be harmed by the appearance that Defendants are meeting with and obtaining



recommendations and advice from a few, select members of major corporations, each with their
own self interests, in order to formulate government policy. Defendants’ actions also create the
appearance that members of the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees may gain favor or
influence with Defendants and/or the U.S. government by participating in the NACC process, to
the detriment of others who are not allowed to participate, thus further undermining public
confidence in government.

COUNT 1
(Declaratory Judgment; 28 U.S.C. § 2201)

35. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 as if fully set forth herein.

36. The NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees each constitute advisory
committees as that term is defined by FACA. 5 U.S.C. App. 2 § 3(2). The NACC and its U.S.
component subcommittees have been established and utilized by Defendants.

37. Defendants are violating FACA by establishing and utilizing the NACC and its
U.S. component subcommittees, including the Executive Committee and the Advisory
Committee, without complying with the requirements of the statute, including but not limited to
the statute’s requirements that: (i) all meetings be open to the public; (ii) notice of each meeting
be published in the Federal Register; (iii) interested persons be allowed to attend, appear before,
or file statements with the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees; and (iv) records,
reports, transcripts, minutes, appendices, working papers, drafts, studies, agendas, and other
documents made available to or prepared for or by the NACC or its U.S. component

subcommittees be made available through FOIA. 5 U.S.C. App. 2 §§ 10(a)(1-3) and (b).
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38.  Defendants’ violations of FACA have injured Plaintiff in the manner described in
paragraph 32, above.

39.  Plaintiff will continue to suffer permanent and irreparable injury unless the
operation of the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees are brought into compliance with
the provisions of FACA.

COUNT 1I
(Administrative Procedure Act; 5 U.S.C. § 706)

40.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-39 as if fully set forth herein.

41. By establishing and utilizing the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees,
and by permitting the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees to it to meet and deliberate
without complying with the FACA, Defendants are (a) acting in a manner that is arbitrary,
capricious, and contrary to law; (b) acting without observance of procedure required by law; and
(c) unlawfully withholding agency action, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act
(“APA”). 5U.S.C. §§ 706(1) and (2)(A) and (D).

42. Defendants’ violations of FACA and the APA have injured Plaintiff in the manner
described in paragraph 32, above.

43. Plaintiff will continue to suffer permanent and irreparable injury unless the
operation of the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees are brought into compliance with

the provisions of FACA and the APA.
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COUNT 111
(Mandamus; 28 U.S.C. § 1361)

44.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 as if fully set forth herein.

45. By establishing and utilizing the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees,
and by permitting the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees to it to meet and deliberate
without complying with the FACA, Defendants are failing to carry out ministerial acts owed to
Plaintiff. 28 U.S.C. § 1361.

46.  Defendants’ failure to carry out ministerial acts owed to Plaintiff under FACA
have injured Plaintiff in the manner described in paragraph 32, above.

47. Plaintiff will continue to suffer permanent and irreparable injury unless the
operation of the NACC and its U.S. component subcommittees are brought into compliance with
the provisions of FACA.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Declare that the NACC, the Executive Committee, and the Advisory Committee,
are advisory committees under FACA and must comply with all requirements of FACA and all
applicable laws;

B. Declare that Defendants have violated FACA in the following ways, among
others:

1. failing to open each meeting of the NACC, the Executive Committee, and

Advisory Committee to the public in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 10(a)(1);
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it. failing to publish timely notice of each meeting of the NACC, the
Executive Committee, and the Advisory Committee in the Federal Register, in violation of 5
U.S.C. § 10(a)(2);

1ii. failing to allow Plaintiff and other interested persons and entities to attend,
appear before, or file statements with the NACC, the Executive Committee, and the Advisory
Commiittee, in violation of 5 U.S.C. §10(a)(2); and

v. failing to make available for public inspection and copying the records,
reports, transcripts, minutes, appendices, working papers, drafts, studies, agendas, or other
documents which were made available to or prepared for or by the NACC, the Executive
Committee, and the Advisory, in violation of 5 U.S.C. App. 2 § 10(b);

C. Permanently enjoin Defendants from allowing the NACC, the Executive
Committee, and the Advisory Committee to operate in any manner that is not in full compliance
with FACA, including the requirements set forth in items (i) through (iv) of subparagraph C;

D. Issue a writ of mandamus compelling Defendants to perform carry out all
nondiscretionary duties required by FACA with respect to the operation of the NACC, the
Executive Committee, and the Advisory Committee, including the requirements set forth in items
(i) through (iv) of subparagraph C;

E. Permanently enjoin Defendants to provide to Plaintiff, within ten working days
and at no cost to Plaintiff, a full and complete copy of all records, reports, transcripts, minutes,
appendixes, working papers, drafts, studies, agenda, or other document that were made available

to or prepared for or by the NACC, the Executive Committee, or the Advisory Committee,
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irrespective of whether any such document otherwise is or could be exempt from disclosure

under 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(b)(2), (5), or (7)-(9); and

F. Award Plaintiff attorneys fees and costs of suit, as well as any and all other relief

the Court deems appropriate.

Dated: August 10, 2007
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Respectfully submitted,

JUDICIAL WATCH, INC.
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Paul J. Orfanedes

D.C. Bar No. 429716
Suite 500

501 School Street, S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20024
(202) 646-51 .
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’Jgnes F. Peterson
D.C. Bar No. 450171
Suite 500
501 School Street, S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20024
(202) 646-5172

Meredith L. Di Liberto a

D.C. Bar No. 487733
Suite 500

501 School Street, S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20024
(202) 646-5172

Attorneys for Plaintiff



